VILLAGE OF DOWNERS GROVE
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALSMINUTES
JULY 23, 2003
Call to Order

Chairman White caled the meeting to order & 7:35 PM.

Rall call
Present: Mr. Baker, Mr. Benes, Mr. Domijan, Mr. Lukas, Mr.
Seseter, Ch. White
Absent:Mr. Gray

A quorum was established.
Minutes

Mr. Lukas moved to accept the minutes of the July 25, 2003 meeting as presented. Mr.
Benes seconded the M otion.

AYES Mr. Lukas, Mr. Benes, Mr. Baker, Ch. White
NAYS None
ABSTAIN:  Mr. Domijan, Mr. Sleeter

Chairman White declared the minutes accepted as submitted.

M eeting Pr ocedur es

Chairman White explained the procedures to be followed for the meeting, reviewing the variation
petition before the Board. He said that the Board has the authority to either grant or deny the variation
petition, and the Board' s decison isthe fina decison. Chairman White then opened the public hearing
for Case V-06-03 and asked anyone in the audience who intended to testify in this public hearing to rise
and beswornin.

PUBLIC HEARING: V-06-03 A petition seeking rdief from the provisons of Section 28-
1301 Fences of the Zoning Ordinance pertaining to an open design fence located within the
Carpenter Street front yard of the subject property. The property islocated at the northeast
corner of 67" and Carpenter Streets, commonly known as 6845 Carpenter Street, Downers
Grove, IL 60516 (PIN No. 09-20-113-024); Owners, Timothy & Stacey Saman; Petitioner,
Stacey Saman

Zoning Board of Appeals 1 July 23, 2003



LEGAL NOTICE: VILLAGE OF DOWNERS GROVE NOTICE OF PUBLIC
HEARING - Natice is hereby given that a public hearing will be held by the Zoning Board of
Appedls at 7:30 p.m. on Wednesday, July 23, 2003 in the Committee Room of the Village Hall,
801 Burlington Avenue, Downers Grove, Illinois, on a petition seeking relief from the provisons
of Section 28-1301 Fences of the Zoning Ordinance pertaining to an open design fence located
within the Carpenter Street front yard of the subject property. The property islocated at the
northeast corner of 67" and Carpenter Streets, commonly known as 6645 Carpenter Stret,
Downers Grove, IL (PIN 09-20-113-024) and is legally described asfollows:.

Lot 15, Block 13 in Downers Grove Estates being a subdivision of the West Half of the
Northwest Quarter of Section 20, Township 38 North, Range 11, East of the Third Principa
Meridian in DuPage County, Illinois, commonly known as 6645 Carpenter Street, Downers
Grove, IL 60516 (PIN 09-20-113-024)

Individuas with a disability requiring a reasonable accommodation in order to participate in any
meeting should contact the Community Response Center (630) 434-CALL(2255) prior to the
meseting. Wheelchair access may be gained through the side (south) entrance of Village Hall.
All interested persons should attend this hearing and will be given an opportunity to be heard.
The hearing may be continued from time to time without further public notice. Zoning Board of
Appeds, William White, Chairman. Published in the Downers Grove Reporter, Friday, July 4,
2003.

Petitioner’s Presentation

Timothy and Stacey Saman, owners and petitioners, made their presentation. Mr. Salman said that
they bought the house last year and wanted to build afence. They followed the process, applied for a
permit and a Code Enforcement officer came out to view thelot. The officer noted that the fence could
not be six feet tall past the front setback of the house. The fence was built; however, the contractor had
st the air conditioners in the wrong place, and Mr. Salman removed them. Mr. Lou Hayes of the
Code Services Department then came out to look at the air conditioners and discovered the problems
with the fence.

Mr. Salman said they were unaware that the front portion of the fence had to be an open design fence.
He said that their fence designer called it a* capped double-rail cedar picket fence,” but there was
aoparently “mis-terminology” on the request for apermit. The contractor had built the fence six feet tall
al the way to the corner, which they rectified right away after Mr. Hayes told them that certain portions
weretoo tdl. Mr. Sdman said they built the fence to what they thought was Code. Had they known
the Code, they would have chosen a different fence dl together. He said heis not attempting to get
away with anything, and the fence does not cause avishility hindrance. He referred to photographs
submitted with their petition as evidence that the fence was not a hindrance. Mr. Saman said they do
not understand why they would have to rebuild the fence, and they are asking for a variance to keep the
fencetheway it is.

Mr. Secter asked whether the contractor misunderstood what was needed, or where the error
occurred.

Zoning Board of Appeals 2 July 23, 2003



Mr. Salman said that the contractor caled the fence that they installed a“picket fence,” and it hasa
capped doublerail. He said they were unaware of the requirements for an open design fence.

Mr. Baker asked who applied for the permit. Mr. Saman said he applied for the permit, and he does
not know why the contractor did not know the Code. The permit was obtained before the fence was
built. They had someone from the Village' s Code Services Department come out prior to ingtdlation
and walk the lot with them.

Mrs. Sdman said she submitted a plat of survey with the permit petition and she stated “ picket fence”
on the gpplication. She said that she was the motivator behind the type of fence they chose because
they have two smdl children. They are on abusy street and need the fence because of the children.
She thought they had followed the procedures properly.

Mr. Salman distributed additiond pictures to the Board. He said he does not see how the fence hinders
anything in the neighborhood. If he knew he had to build it at two different heights he said he would not
have builtit & al. Hethinksit should stay theway it is.

There being no further questions, Chairman White asked Ms. Browne to present the Staff’ s report.

Staff Presentation:

Ms. Browne said the petitioner is seeking gpprova of a variation regarding portions of their newly
congtructed fence, which does not meet the requirements regulating open design fences located within a
required front yard.

Ms. Browne said that the proposed variance is being sought under the provisions of Section 28-1802(1)
of the Zoning Ordinance which authorizes the Board to “...to permit variations of any provision of
Section 28-1301, if, in the opinion of the Board, alitera enforcement thereof would do manifest
injustice or would be contrary to the pirit and purpose of such provisions regulating fences, or to the
public interest.”

The subject property islocated on the northeast corner of 67" Street and Carpenter Street. The lot has
awidth as measured from east to west of 50.02 feet, a depth ranging between 144.72 feet as measured
on the west and 144.79 feet as measured on the east, with atota area of approximately 7,240.65
square feet.

Ms. Browne described the subject property asimproved with atwo-story brick and frame residence
which has an attached garage that faces southward towards 67" Street, but which is accessed viaa
driveway intersecting Carpenter Street. The house has awidth as measured at the south of 29.95 feet
and has a depth as measured aong the westerly line of 72.46 feet.

Regarding zoning, Ms. Browne sated that the subject property is located within an R-4, sngle-family
resdentid zoning didtrict. This zoning didrict has aminimum front yard setback of 25 feet. However,
on corner lots, the provisions of Section 28-1102(a) guarantees a minimum buildable width of 30 feet

Zoning Board of Appeals 3 July 23, 2003



on corner lots, which has the effect of reducing the front setback along the longer front yard to 15 feet.
The house sited on the subject property was built consistent with these requirements.

Following inquiries of the Code Enforcement Staff including an on-ste visit by a Code Enforcement
officer, Ms. Browne said the petitioner gpplied for and was issued a fence permit on May 22, 2003.

The permit drawing prepared by the petitioner showed that there was to be afour foot tall “picket
fence’ congructed in the areato the north of the house which would project into the required front yard
along the Carpenter Street frontage of the subject property which was to be set back three feet from the
Carpenter Street property line. Ms. Browne indicated thet the term “picket fence” istypicaly
understood to be of an open design with pointed vertica members with an gppreciable space between
the vertical members. The permit drawing aso noted the section of the new fence that wasto run aong
the northerly property line was to commence three feet east of the west property line and wasto be a
four foot tall “picket fence.” Thefour foot tall section dong the northerly property line was, according
to the permit drawing, to run eastward for adistance of 12 feet. The fence aong the remaining 35 feet
of the north lot line and dong the east I ot line for a distance of gpproximately 55 feet south of the
northeast lot corner was specified to be a six-foot tall fence.

Ms. Browne explained that the provisions of Section 28-1301(g)(2)(i) provide, “ Opendesign fences of
no more than four (4) feet in height are permitted within required front yards and on corner lots within
required side yards abutting street.” Open Design Fences are defined by Section 28-1301(e) as
follows: “Open design fences shdl be congtructed in such amanner that no verticad member shdl
exceed awidth of six inches, and the ratio of open areato closed shdl be 1:2, with the open area
digtributed uniformly over the entire fence surface.”

Ms. Browne stated that when the Village s building ingpector went out to ingpect the fence, he found
that the north to south section of fence located just east and parallel with the Carpenter Street property
line had been ingtaled as non open design fence with an open areato closed arearatio of one inch of
open areafor every sx inches of closed area. In addition, the fence ingtaled aong the north lot line
from approximately three feet east of the west property line east to the east property line had been
indtalled as asx-foot tal fence, which was made up of afive-foot tall section of fence topped with a
one-foot section of lattice. Once the Village became aware of the inconsstency with the Ordinance
requirements, the property owner was informed, and they then filed the variation request.

In the intervening time, the petitioner advised Staff that they had requested the fence contractor to
modify that portion of the fence located within the Carpenter Street front yard that exceeded four feet in
height. The modification has been completed and was confirmed by an on-Site ingpection.

Ms. Browne noted to the Board that the petitioner has, in addition to the application and drawing,
submitted photographs dong with aletter providing the circumstances, which the petitioner believesto
be pertinent for the Board to consider in its ddliberations on their petition.

Ms. Browne summarized that the petitioner desires gpprova of avariance which would permit them to
keep the portions of their fence which had been erected in amanner not consistent with the applicable

Zoning Board of Appeals 4 July 23, 2003



provisons of the Zoning Ordinance which limits fences that are located within arequired front yard to
be of an open design limited to no more than four feet in height, per Section 28-1301(€e) and Section
28-1301(g)(1)(i)-

Ms. Browne reminded the Board that the provisons of Section 28-1802(l) authorizesthe Board “...to
permit variations of any provison of Section 28-1301, if, in the opinion of the Board, aliterd
enforcement thereof would do manifest injustice or would be contrary to the spirit and purpose of such
provisions regulating fences, or to the public interest.”

Sheindicated that in its ddiberations, the Board should consider and determine what factors exig, if
any, which satisfy the applicable conditions that are necessary to gpprove a variation according to the
standards specified under Section 28-1802(1) and to specify for the record, the basis for the Board's
action on the proposed variation petition.

Chairman White said the problem is not the width of the boards, but the fact that there isinsufficient
space between the boards.

Mr. Sleeter asked if this particular regulation covers only front yard setbacks, and Ms. Browne said that
was correct. Mr. Seeter noted that while technicaly the subject yard isafront yard, it functionsasa
back yard.

Ms. Browne said that in terms of the intent of the regulations, fencesin front yards are required to be
open design and no more than four feet in height so as to not obsiruct vision at intersections and where
driveways meet the sdewak, and dso to provide an open feding to the area. The drafters of the
Ordinance apparently wanted to make reasonable accommodations for fencesin front yards, but
specificaly excluded certain types of fences such as chain link and stockade fences.

Mr. Baker said that he hasinquired to the Code Enforcement Department regarding certain projects for
his own home, and noted they were very clear on theindructions.

Mr. Baker asked if the contractor should be aware of the Code requirements. Ms. Browne said any
contractor should be aware of the requirements, or should ask specificaly what the requirements are.
She noted that it is ultimately the homeowner’ s responsibility to rectify any violation that is discovered,
whether they seek compensation from a contractor who has made an error is a private matter.

Mr. Benes said there seems to be technical differences in the open fence definition and the
understanding of what isa*“picket fence’. He said it seems the Code Enforcement officers need to
explore what type of fence petitioners are putting in place.

Ms. Browne said she did not fedl it was gppropriate to try to place blame on anyone in this Stuation.
Theintent is to determine whether the variation request to alow a non-open-design fence a this
particular location is gppropriate or ingppropriate. The circumstances as to how the fence came to be
congtructed in its current condition are not directly at issue. The Board should review the criteriafor

Zoning Board of Appeals 5 July 23, 2003



granting a fence variation, and determine whether this type of fence will be in conformance with those
criteria

Mr. Benes asked for clarification that they are only looking at the portion of the fence that is four feet in
height. Ms. Browne said that the variation pertains to the non-open design fence portions that are
located within the required front yard.

Chairman White asked if any other types of fences are defined in the Code, or isit only open design
fences. Ms. Browne said that the Ordinance only defines an opent design fence, but that the definition
specificaly excludes chain link fences

Ms. Browne aso noted that that Mr. Lou Hayes from the Code Services Department was present to
answer any questions that the Board may have.

Mr. Benes said he could see that the citation was correct.

Mr. Lou Hayes, Code Enforcement Officer for the Village of Downers Grove for the past two years,
sad no citations were written. He explained the process that is followed when afence permit is
requested. The gpplicant is given an ingruction sheet, and if the lot is a corner lot, a Code Enforcement
Officer isrequired to vigt the property and give the owners specific indructions. Mr. Hayes said that he
was not the officer who visited the ste initidly, but noted that any other officer would have told the
ownersthat it would have to be an open design fence; that is standard operating procedure for afence
inafront yard. Hereferred to the site plan that accompanied the permit gpplication, which showed how
the petitioners indicated the fence was to be installed.

Mr. Hayes said he was contacted by Mr. Salman to discuss the location of the air conditioning units, a
which time he noticed that the fence was dready ingtaled and was not in conformance with the
regulations. He said that he told Mr. Salman that there were two sections of fence that had to be cut
back from six feet in height to four feet in height. He dso told Mr. Salman that they are required to have
an open design fence in the required front yard.

Mr. Hayes noted oftentimes fence companies come to the Department and have books showing the
types of fences they carry to determine what is dlowable and what isnot. In addition, Mr. Hayes said
that all the Code Enforcement Officers are ingtructed as to fencing types in order to remain consistent
and to avoid having fencing contractors question the types of fencesthat are dlowed to be ingtaled.

Mr. Hayes said the issue here has to do with the portion of the fence that should be an open fence
design. He dso noted that the front posts exceed the four-foot height by afew inches, and will be
required to be cut down further. In response to a question from the Board, Mr. Hayes said a“reverse
board” fenceis not an open fence design.

Mr. Hayes said that the term “picket” is generdly understood to be an open design consisting of evenly

spaced wood dats that have a pointed tip. By code, the space between the datsis required to be a
certain width depending upon the width of the dat.

Zoning Board of Appeals 6 July 23, 2003



Ms. Browne agreed, and said that when staff speaks about fences, they consistently use the term “ open
design’, which isthen darified to the person making the inquiry that an open design fence mugt have an
open to closed ratio of one to two, and with aheight of less than four feet. It isavery common question
asked over the phone, over the counter, by homeowners, by contractors.

Chairman White asked, if the Board were to grant the variation, whether Code Enforcement wants the
Board to state specificdly the reason it has chosen to grant the variation. Mr. Hayes said absolutely,
they would want that information in case another individua wanted to question why this particular fence
was allowed.

Mr. Salman said the origina six foot height was the mistake of the fence company, and they came back
and corrected it. He understands the yard is considered the front yard, and they know they arein
violation. Heisin the construction business and knows to obtain the correct regulations for each
location.

Mrs. Salman said that she did not like how fences ook when they are done at the setback linewhich is
somewhere in the middle of the yard, and afence at the setback line would not dlow as much yard
gpace to be utilized within the fenced-in area. In addition, they wanted the fence to be acceptable to the
neighbors aswell. Sheindicated that their driveway isthe only driveway that exits onto Carpenter on
that block. She also said that she thinks that opening the boards up to three inches of space to keep the
gx-inch dats could be hazardous to young children and is contrary to the origina reason for the fence,
which isto keep the children safein the yard. She said that to bring the fence into conformance, they
would have to have it taken down and rebuilt, which she beieves would compromise the structurd
integrity of the fence components.

There being no further questions from the Board, and no one in the audience to speek ether in favor of
or in oppaosgition to the petition, Chairman White closed the opportunity for further public comment.

Board Ddliberation

Mr. Lukas said it sounded as though everyone was moving forward to do the proper thing, but when it
came to an understanding of what a picket fence is, the problem developed. It was assumed that the
fence would conform as an “open design fence’, and there was never amutua understanding of what
the fence would look like. He said that perhaps the gpplicant in the future should be required to submit
a sketch, photograph, or catalog description of the fencing so there is no misunderstanding asto what is
proposed. He did not fed they should ask the homeowners to change the fence asit is constructed,
because he fedsit is not harming any pedestrian or vehicular traffic. He said that to honor the open
design definition as required would defeet the purpose of the fence, which isto contain the childrenin
theyard. He said that in this case it gppearsto be aresult of a communication problem, and because of
that he would be in favor of granting the variation.

Mr. Seeter said he came to somewhat the same conclusion but through a different train of thought. He
sad he understood the intent of the fence ordinance to be the protection of open intersections and to
provide an open appearance to the neighborhood. This houseis not being enclosed, and the fence is

Zoning Board of Appeals 7 July 23, 2003



not having any negative effect on traffic. He noted that the neighbors have agreed that the fenceis
acceptable, and in his opinion, thisis within the spirit of the fence provisonsin the Ordinance. There
were no objections made by the neighbors.

Chairman White said he takes an opposite position. He sees great unfairness, but he is concerned that a
miscommunicetion between a petitioner and gtaff isinsufficient to override an ordinance. He said they
could not set a precedent because of a perceived mistake in communication. The standard in the
criteriaisa“manifest injustice’. He does not know how the Board will congider the next smilar case,
and dso is concerned about giving the proper guidance to Mr. Hayes and the Code Enforcement staff.
Chairman White said enforcing the Ordinance is not in violation of the spirit of the Ordinance. He did
not see a mistake in communication between a Village employee and a petitioner as a sufficient basisto
grant the variation.

Mr. Seeter said that the spirit of the fence ordinance is so that the vison is not blocked, and that the
characterigtics of the neighborhood are not negatively impacted. Under different circumstances he might
agree with the Chairman’s opinion; however, in this case the fence is not blocking any view or creating a
hazard.

Mr. Baker said he is somewhat in the middle of the road on this. He would agree with the Chairman in
one casg, in that acommon understanding of what a picket is the intent of the Code. This fence does not
mest that requirement, and enforcing the Code is not a manifest injustice. But given the
miscommunication, it could be considered manifest injugtice. He said that taking in the entire picture of

it being a sde yard adjacent to the house, that adds to his confusion.

Chairman White said his understanding of the Board' stask isto grant the variation if they believe that
denying the variaion is manifestly unjust. Heindicated thet to say “no” does not violation the spirit of
the variation, and isnot an injustice.

Mr. Benes said that the Code says “open design fence’. It does not say why it isopen, just thet it is
open. Even though the yard is on the Sde of the housg, it is dill the front required front yard. Itisnota
sgdeyard or aback yard. The problem isadifference of definitions of an open design fence between
the petitioner and the Ordinance.

Mr. Benes said that as far as the Code Enforcement Department is concerned, before a permit is
issued, they ingtruct the gpplicant about open fencing in front yards. A fence contractor knows the
difference between open and closed fencing. Additiondly, if someone questions this particular fence,
they can say that the people obtained avariation. A permit is not provided with avariaion. Each
Stuation is a separate entity and has to be seen as such. That does not mean that every petition that
comesin will be granted a variation.

Chairman White said he is concerned about people seeing that this variation was approved after the
fence was congructed, and they might try to build something in violaion of the Ordinance and finish
before the violation is discovered by the Village by applying for a permit that meets the Code but
building something dse and daming that it was amistake.

Zoning Board of Appeals 8 July 23, 2003



Mr. Benes said if that occurs, the owners could be told to take it down. He said these ownershad a
permit before they put up the fence. The issueis whether the petitioner knows and understands what an
open design fenceis, and in this case, the owners' and contractor’s sense of open design differsfrom
that of the Village Code.

Mr. Domijan said he struggles with the legd definition of an open fence asit gppliesto afront yard
seemsto pendlize this particular property and al propertiesthat are corner lots. If this property werein
the middle of the block this conversation would not be necessary.

Ms. Browne interjected that she did not think it pendlizesa corner lot. The intent of the regulation isto
have uniformity in setback of structures on a street and to protect the intersections of streets and
driveways.

Ms. Browne added that due to the narrow width of most corner lots, the Ordinance alows an automatic
reduction of the front setback on the longer street side in certain instances where the lots are of a certain
width. Explaining further, she noted that 50-foot wide lotsin the R-4 digtrict have reduced front yard
sethacks dong the longer street frontage from 25 feet to 15 feet in order to ensure a 30-foot minimum
buildable width.

Mr. Domijan said that by definition he believes corner lots are held to a different sandard. In most
cases the system seemed to work asit was intended, but in this Stuation it is not working.

Mr. Domijan continued thisis a difficult position for the Board, wherein if the variation in this caseis
granted, it can cause problemsin other cases. He said he did not know if there have been actud issues
where a previous ruling from the Zoning Board was used to actualy build a case for avariation. All
variations are intended to stand on their own. If someone wanted to come in and put in afence that did
not meet the definitions as an open design fence, they would have to come to the Board and request a
vaidion for their specific Stuation.

Chairman White responded that his persona opinion isthat a court isnot going to see whether the fence
isbuilt or not as alegitimate bass for making a ditinction between whether the variation should be
alowed or not.

Mr. Baker asked whether the issue of it being built dready should be taken out of the picture.

Mr. Benes noted that variations are not free. This variation costs $300.00, in addition to the cost of the
permit for the fence. For someone eseto try and do the same thing just because they like a specific
fence, it will cost them at least as much.

Mr. Baker asked whether Code Enforcement could do anything differently in regard to open fence
definitions. Ms. Browne and Mr. Hayes noted Code Enforcement has handouts for certain kinds of
congtruction, including fences, so that the petitioner is aware of the permitting requirements before
congtruction commences.

Zoning Board of Appeals 9 July 23, 2003



There being no further discussion, Chairman White called for aMation.

Mr. Benesmoved that in Case V-6-08, the Zoning Board of Appeals grant the variation as
requested by the petitioner. Mr. Lukas seconded the Motion.

AYE: Mr. Benes, Mr. Lukas, Mr. Domijan, Mr. Sleeter
ABSTAIN: Mr. Baker
NAY: Chairman White

Chairman White declared the Motion passed with a vote of 4:1:1.

Mr. Baker said the reason for his abstention was that he did not want to set a precedent, and that heis
in the middle of the road on this decison.

Mr. Sdman thanked the Board for their decision and said he appreciated the process.
There being no further business, Chairman White adjourned the meseting at 9:00 PM.
Respectfully submitted,

Tonie Harrington
Recording Secretary

Zoning Board of Appeals 10 July 23, 2003



